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BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

______________________________________________________________________



  :
JOSE MARTIN ALVAREZ,
  :



  :


Claimant,
  :


  :

vs.

  :

       File No. 5004554



  :                              
WAL-MART STORES, INC.,
  :                      A R B I T R A T I O N 


Employer,
  :



  :                           D E C I S I O N

and

  :



  :

AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE CO.,
  :




  :


Insurance Carrier,
  :


Defendants.
  :    Head Note Nos.: 1803; 3800; 4000
______________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an arbitration proceeding.  Claimant, Jose Martin Alvarez, filed his petition on August 23, 2002.  He alleged he sustained a work-related injury on December 9, 2001, while he was in the employ of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. at the distribution center in Mount Pleasant, Iowa.  The distribution center is a large warehouse in this state.  It services Wal-Mart Stores within a 150-mile radius of its location. 
Defendants filed their answer on September 12, 2002.  American Home Assurance Company insures the company for purposes of workers’ compensation.  Claims Management, Inc. is the third party administrator that is located in Bartlesville, Oklahoma.  It is not a named party in this contested case.  The claims adjuster for defendants is located in the Oklahoma office of Claims Management, Inc.  There is one adjuster who is hired to handle Iowa claims.  She and the Human Resource Manager, Diane Barton, work closely together on workers’ compensation claims involving employees at the distribution center.  Currently, Ms. Debbie Van Gunda is the claims adjuster assigned to Iowa.  She was not present at the hearing.
The parties indicated they would be ready to try the case on or after September 9, 2003.  The hearing assignment administrator set the hearing at the Kahl Building in Davenport, Iowa.  The hearing was held on May 20, 2004.
The undersigned appointed Ms. Cortney Kilby of Huney-Vaughn Court Reporters, as the certified shorthand reporter.  She is the official custodian of the records and notes.  The following exhibits were admitted as evidence in the case:  claimant’s exhibits 1-12 and defendants’ exhibits A-H.  
Because Spanish is claimant’s first language, Ms. Rosa Knapp of Translations Unlimited, Inc. translated the proceeding into Spanish for claimant.  The attorneys of record waived the tape recording of claimant’s testimony.

Defendants’ attorney filed a certificate of filing transcript on June 17, 2004.  The official transcript was filed on the same date.
Claimant testified on his own behalf.  William Tweeton, D.C., also testified at the hearing.  Mr. Frank Nupp, Logistics Area Manager at the Wal-Mart Distribution Center in Mount Pleasant, testified for defendants.  

Prior to the hearing, Ms. Diane Barton, Human Resources Manager at the Mount Pleasant Distribution Center, testified by deposition.  Joseph (Jack) Chen, M.D., at the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, testified by deposition on May 13, 2004.
STIPULATIONS

The parties stipulated that:

1. There was the existence of an employer-employee relationship at the time of the alleged injury;

2. 


3. The commencement date for any permanent partial disability benefits is January 1, 2003;

4. At the time of the work injury, claimant’s gross earning were $509.40 per week and the weekly benefit rate is stipulated to be $310.82 per week;

5. Defendants have waived any and all affirmative defenses they may have had available;


6. The parties can stipulate to the costs to litigate.

ISSUES

The issues to resolve are:

1. Whether claimant sustained a work-related injury on December 9, 2001 that arose out of and in the course of his employment;
2. Whether claimant sustained a repetitive/cumulative trauma injury while he was in the employ of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.;
3. Whether the alleged injury is a cause of temporary/permanent disability;

4. Whether claimant is entitled to temporary/healing period benefits as a result of the alleged work injury on December 9, 2001;

5. Whether claimant is entitled to permanent partial disability benefits;
6. Whether claimant is entitled to certain medical benefits pursuant to section 85.27 of the Iowa Code, as amended.
7. Whether claimant is entitled to penalty benefits pursuant to section 86.13 of the Iowa Code, as amended.
8. Whether claimant is entitled to the payment of an independent medical examination pursuant to section 85.39 of the Iowa Code.
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This deputy, after hearing the testimony, having read the evidence and after judging the credibility of the witnesses, including claimant, makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established ordinarily has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6)(e)
The claimant has the burden of proving by of preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury actually occurred and that it both arose out of and in the course of the employment.  Ciha v. Quaker Oats Co., 552 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1996); Miedema v. Dial Corp., 551 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1996).  The words “arising out of” referred to the cause or source of the injury.  The words “in the course of” refer to the time, place, and circumstances of the injury.  2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995).  An injury arises out of the employment when a causal relationship exists between the injury and the employment.  Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  The injury must be a rational consequence of a hazard connected with the employment and not merely incidental to the employment.  Koehler Electric v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000); Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  An injury occurs “in the course of” employment when it happens within a period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be when performing employment duties and while the employee is fulfilling those duties or doing an activity incidental to them.  Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143.



The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible. Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996)

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability. Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995). Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).



A personal injury contemplated by the workers’ compensation law means an injury, the impairment of health or a disease resulting from an injury which comes about, not through the natural building up and tearing down of the human body, but because of trauma.  The injury must be something that acts extraneously to the natural processes of nature and thereby impairs the health, interrupts or otherwise destroys or damages a part or all of the body.  Although many injuries have a traumatic onset, there is no requirement for a special incident or an unusual occurrence.  Injuries which result from cumulative trauma are compensable. Increased disability from a prior injury, even if brought about by further work, does not constitute a new injury, however.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire & Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).  An occupational disease covered by chapter 85A is specifically excluded from the definition of personal injury.  Iowa Code section 85.61(4) (b); Iowa Code section 85A.8; Iowa Code section 85A.14.



Claimant is a credible 41-year-old single man with no children.  This deputy had ample time to observe claimant during the course of his hearing.   He demonstrated an ability to provide honest and forthright answers to the questions posed to him.  The undersigned makes an express finding that claimant is credible.  Since Spanish is his first language, some of his medical providers had trouble communicating with claimant.  Nevertheless, he exhibited a propensity to tell the truth at his hearing.  Second Injury Fund of Iowa v. Braden, 459 N.W.2d 467, 471 (Iowa 1990).  This deputy has weighed the proffered testimony and determined its credibility.  Id. at 471, citing, Catalfo v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 213 N.W.2d 506, 509 (1973).

The undersigned has taken into consideration all of the evidence presented to her.  The deputy has given more weight to the testimony of some witnesses as opposed to the testimony of other witnesses.  This is the duty of the deputy in every case.  


In DeLong v. Highway Commissioner, 229 Iowa 700, 719-720, 295 N.W. 91 (1940), the Iowa Supreme Court wrote the following relative to the evidence presented before the then Industrial Commission:

Evidence offered before the industrial commissioner is subject to the usual tests of credibility and this is true although no witness contradicts.  The finding of a commissioner has the same force and effect as the finding of a jury.  A jury is not bound to accept as true the testimony of a witness not contradicted by other witnesses.  A jury takes into consideration the means and the opportunity of a witness to know the facts to which his credibility relates.  This is also the privilege of the commissioner and it is for him to determine the consistency of the testimony and in the light of all proven facts and circumstances to weigh the credibility thereof.

The Supreme Court in DeLong, then cited the case of Miller v. Gardner & Lindberg, 190 Iowa 700, 704, 180 N.W. 742, 743 (1921), regarding evidence in a workers’ compensation hearing.  The Court reiterated:  “It will not do to say that the evidence of the claimant is binding upon the commissioner, in the absence of direct contradiction.  It will not do to say that the commissioner may not consider the weight and credibility of his evidence, in the light of all the circumstances.”


Finally, in DeLong, the Supreme Court cited Heinen v. Motor Inn Corp., 202 Iowa 67, 69, 209 N.W. 415, 416 (1926) regarding evidence before the commission.  The justices quoted:  “There is no great conflict in the direct evidence, but the commissioner had the right to draw any legitimate inference therefrom.”

Claimant was born in Mexico.  He attended high school but he did not complete the 12th grade.  He arrived in this country to perform fieldwork in California.  Initially, he was paid $4.25 per hour to pick strawberries.  The work involved much bending.  It was hard physical work for him to manage in the fields.  Claimant was also required to load trucks with large containers of berries.  

Claimant has lived in Columbus Junction, Iowa for the past 13 years.  He is a legal resident; he is not a citizen of the United States.  Because of his immigration status, claimant does not qualify for “State Papers.”  He is unable to obtain those papers for the purpose of receiving orthopedic care at the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics.  He has no other funding source or health insurance to pay for his medical care.
Claimant speaks some English but has a difficult time communicating with his medical providers, supervisors and coworkers.  Often he relies on his brother to translate for him.  There is no evidence he has ever taken the English as a Second Language Class.  

In 1992, claimant worked at the IBP Plant in Columbus Junction.  He was a maintenance employee who worked nights at the hourly rate of $6.00 per hour.  Claimant only worked there for one year.

From 1993 through 1998, claimant worked for the Norell Temporary Employment Agency at the Proctor and Gamble facility in Iowa City.  Claimant ‘s duties included packaging shampoo and Scope Mouthwash into cartons.  Usually, he worked at waist level.  He worked 40 hours per week and earned $7.00 per hour.  The work was often seasonal.

In September 1998, management employees of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., hired claimant to work at its distribution center in Mount Pleasant, Iowa.  Claimant passed the requisite pre-employment physical.  The company doctor who examined and evaluated claimant noted no back problems.
Claimant worked as a non-conveyable loader on the shipping dock.  His primary responsibility was to load trailers with boxes and other store items as high and as tightly as possible.  The company employed “bricklayer loading” for filling the trailers.  The employees were able to use hand jacks or mechanical jacks to assist them.  Because claimant was classified as a non-conveyable employee, he was often required to load manually heavy items such as small dorm room refrigerators, grills, wooden entertainment centers, and television sets.  The lifting could involve as much as 100 pounds, according to claimant’s testimony.  

Claimant reported directly to Frank Nupp, Logistics Area Manager, at the distribution center.  Mr. Nupp testified claimant was a good worker.  The company had initiated a training program for claimant so he could advance at the distribution center.
The Human Resource Manager, Diane Barton, estimated the loaders were required to load about 400 cases per hour.  Frank Nupp testified there were 2,400 cartons to each trailer.  Ms. Barton testified that for the benefit of the distribution center employees, the company issued, at no cost to the employees, a back belt for the employees to wear.

In her deposition testimony, Ms. Barton testified she does not speak Spanish.  She also explained during her testimony, in 2001 there was an incentive program in place for employees of the distribution center.  There were group incentive programs and individual incentive programs.  Ms. Barton testified as follows:

A. It’s an incentive, up to 75 cents per hour, that’s paid to each hourly associate based on hours worked in a particular quarter.  And we measure safety, quality - - the quality of their work and productivity facility-wide.  And if everyone achieves those goals, then the incentive is paid to the entire facility.

Q. Okay. So, for example, if someone is injured - - let’s say a shipper loader, say, back in December of 2001 - - is that a point for or point against the facility, if you will, I guess because of safety being a criteria?

A. It would - - it would be an accident for the group safety, because it took place, so we need to record it there.  And then as an individual, I would not - - if my accident were found to be preventable, I would not achieve that individual incentive for that quarter only.

Q. So there is a group - - a category group incentive and an individual incentive?

A. Yes

Q. Okay.  And what’s the distinction between the both?

A. Group is the entire facility and so many accidents - - the measurement of so many accidents in a particular quarter.  Individual is whether I - - I personally either had the accident or possibly I could have caused the accident.

(Exhibit 7, pages 14-15)


At the hearing, Mr. Nupp indicated during his cross-examination testimony, that he would explain to employees who may have sustained work-related injuries that if they went to the doctor, he would have to record their incident as a reportable incident for the distribution center.  Mr. Nupp testified then he would inform the injured employee; he or she would lose the individual incentive bonus for the quarter if the injury was reportable.  (Tr. pp. 140-141)  Mr. Nupp testified the purpose of the incentive program was devised to keep employees safe.  Mr. Nupp testified it was always up to the employee to decide whether to seek medical attention.


Claimant testified he engaged in repetitive work while he was employed at the distribution center.  He placed cartons on conveyor belts or else he carried the “non‑conveyable” items.  At times, he placed items on pallets and then wound shrink‑wrap around the pallet to secure the goods.  Often, he would move the pallet with a jack.  He filled individual store orders too.

Claimant worked 36 hours per week.  He worked three 12-hour shifts on Friday, Saturday and Sunday of each week.  In December 2001, claimant earned $14.15 per hour plus his employee benefits.  The company provided vacation pay and other entitlements.

On Sunday, December 9, 2001, at approximately 10:00 a.m., claimant was manually carrying a dormitory size freezer.  He twisted improperly and experienced immediate pain in his back and numbness in his left leg.  He testified his leg felt as if it was paralyzed.  
Shortly after the incident occurred, claimant verbally reported the incident to his supervisor, Frank Nupp.  It is unknown whether the report was made in Spanish or in English.  Likewise, it is unknown whether an interpreter was available to claimant so he could explain the events in his native tongue.
Mr. Nupp conducted a person-to-person interview with claimant.  Mr. Nupp explained the difference between a reportable incident and a non-reportable incident.  Mr. Nupp explained claimant would lose his individual incentive bonus that was due after December 31, 2001 if he sought medical attention.  Claimant requested medical attention but he was told it was a Sunday and the company doctors were not available.  (There was no plant nurse on site at the distribution center.)  Claimant requested permission to go home and rest.  He was told he could not leave but would be assigned light duty.  As a result, claimant completed his shift that Sunday.  He was not scheduled to work again until the following Friday, December 14, 2001.

Mr. Nupp completed the company form, “Manager’s Investigation of Injury.”  (Ex. 7, deposition exhibit 1)  Since claimant was unable to see a doctor on a Sunday, Mr. Nupp designated the injury as “non-reportable.”  If the injury had been listed as “reportable,” the employees, including Mr. Nupp, would have lost all or a portion of the “group incentive” bonus offered by the company.  Mr. Nupp also listed on the same form; claimant had participated in unsafe acts.  Mr. Nupp believed claimant should have asked for assistance from a coworker.  

On Monday, December 10, 2001, claimant telephoned the office of William Tweeton, D.C., in Washington, Iowa.  Claimant scheduled an appointment for chiropractic treatment on Tuesday, December 11, 2001.  This was not the first time claimant had seen Dr. Tweeton for treatment.  
Previously, claimant had treated with Dr. Tweeton on August 13, 2001 for shoulder complaints.  (Ex. 5-31)  Dr. Tweeton testified both he and his secretary had a hard time communicating with claimant because of the language barrier.  The secretary did her best when she recorded claimant’s medical history.  At times, claimant’s brother, Eulalio Alvarez, had to act as a translator for claimant and the chiropractor.  Dr. Tweeton testified he could not effectively communicate with his patient.  

Claimant returned to Dr. Tweeton on October 1, 2001.  Claimant complained of left hip and leg pain.  (Ex. 5-31)  

On November 26, 2001, claimant returned to Dr. Tweeton.  This time claimant had complaints of left hip, leg and knee pain with numbness into the left big toe.  (Ex. 5‑31)  Dr. Tweeton treated claimant with ultrasound and manipulation.  (Ex. 5-31)


On December 11, 2001, claimant reported to Dr. Tweeton he was having left lower back problems and leg pain.  (Tr. p. 33)  Dr. Tweeton found claimant to be in a worse condition than he was on November 26, 2001.  (Tr. p. 34)  The chiropractor administered manipulation and an ultrasound treatment.  Dr. Tweeton diagnosed claimant’s condition as “lumbar subluxation and sciatic neuritis.”  (Tr. p. 34)

On December 11, 2001, Dr. Tweeton issued a work release slip for claimant.  He was restricted from working.  The relevant period was from December 11, 2001 through December 19, 2001.  (Ex. 5‑28)  Dr. Tweeton explained claimant was under the care of the chiropractor for low back and leg pain.  (Ex. 5-28)  
Following the examination, claimant telephoned the distribution center and spoke with Ms. Barton about his condition.  Claimant presented the work release form to individuals in the human resource department at the distribution center.  Mr. Nupp completed a “DC/TO Time Adjustment Request” on December 14, 2001.  (Ex. 7, Dep. Ex. 5)  

On December 18, 2001, claimant returned to Dr. Tweeton for additional chiropractic care.  Dr. Tweeton restricted claimant from working until December 26, 2001.  (Ex. 5-27)

Claimant received a leave of absence form from the company.  He presented it to Dr. Tweeton for his signature.  (Ex. 5-29)  Dr. Tweeton completed the form on December 21, 2001.  Dr. Tweeton advised the company that claimant needed to be on continuous leave for his lumbar spine and sciatic neuritis.  (Ex. 5-29)  Also on December 21, Mr. Nupp signed another “DC/TO Time Adjustment Request.”  Mr. Nupp noted claimant was on a leave of absence.  (Ex. 7, Dep. Ex. 5)

Claimant returned to Dr. Tweeton on January 4, 2002.  Dr. Tweeton advised claimant to see a medical doctor for additional medical treatment.  (Ex. 5-32)  The chiropractor had nothing more in the way of treatment.  Dr. Tweeton testified claimant was unable to work on January 4, 2002.  Mr. Nupp completed a third “DC/TO Time Adjustment Request.”  It was also dated, January 4, 2002.  Claimant was listed as being on unscheduled leave.  


On January 4, 2002, Ms. Barton sent claimant a letter.  It was written in English.  It stated in full:

We are sending you this letter as a point of contact regarding your current absence from the warehouse.  You are currently not on an approved Leave of Absence and we need to be in communication with one another.  You need to contact me within three (3) days of receipt of this letter at (319) 385-5600 or we will consider it voluntary job abandonment.

(Ex. D, p. 56)


On January 11, 2002, Mr. Nupp completed his final “DC/TO Time Adjustment Request” for claimant.  Mr. Nupp indicated claimant’s leave was unscheduled and he had failed to call the distribution center.  (Ex. 7, Dep. Ex. 5)

Claimant maintains he called the distribution center and spoke to Ms. Barton.  According to claimant’s testimony, she was very angry and would not listen to claimant.  He attempted to explain he was under a doctor’s care for an indefinite period in time.  Ms. Barton wished claimant good luck in his future endeavors.

Ms. Barton testified she completed the separation papers for claimant on January 8, 2002.  She made his termination effective December 9, 2001.  (Ex. 7, Dep. Ex. 3)

Following his termination, claimant applied for unemployment insurance benefits.  The Iowa Department of Workforce Development awarded unemployment insurance benefits to claimant.  

Claimant sought medical treatment from the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics.  Joseph J. Chen, M.D., examined claimant on March 18, 2002.  Dr. Chen diagnosed claimant with left S1 radiculitis.  Dr. Chen ordered a MRI of the spine.  The results of the test demonstrated a large left disc herniation at L5-S1.  Dr. Chen noted the disc bulge impinged on the nerve root.  (Ex. 4-21)  Dr. Chen discussed with claimant “physical therapy, medication management, injection therapy, and possible surgical consultation.”  (Ex. 4-21)  Claimant advised Dr. Chen he was not interested in injections or surgery.  Dr. Chen ordered Neurotin for claimant.  
Dr. Chen testified in his deposition that claimant reached maximum medical improvement in late 2002.  (Ex. 8-10)  In his deposition testimony, Dr. Chen related claimant’s disc herniation to his employment at the distribution center.  (Ex. 7-18 and Ex. 7-22)  Later in his deposition testimony, Dr. Chen opined the following relative to claimant’s work injury on December 9, 2001:

Then on December 9th, when he was lifting those - - or that object, he could have then herniated the disk further to cause - - or sufficiently to cause a radiculopathy.

So given that the other - - or the chiropractic notes from August and October and - - August and October indicate mostly back complaints, it would be my opinion that, at the minimum, the December 9, 2001, injury was - - or had aggravated a subacute disk injury that further progressed after lifting a specific heavy object.
(Ex. 8-21)

In anticipation of litigation, claimant sought an evaluation and an opinion from Richard F. Neiman, M.D., relative to the cause, nature and extent of claimant’s condition.  The exam occurred on April 21, 2003.  Dr. Neiman assessed claimant as having a 10 percent to 13 percent permanent partial impairment.  (Ex. 2-10)  Dr. Neiman imposed restrictions.  They were:

As far as restrictions I would suggest he keep lifting in the range of 15 pounds repetitively, maximum up to 30 pounds no more than 4 times an hour.  He should avoid excessive flexion, extension, lateral bending.  He needs to be able to change position between sitting and standing, prolonged driving would be contraindicated.  He seems to be improving to some degree as far as his back.  His range of motion right now is at flexion forward at 60 [degrees], extension backward at 25 [degrees], and right and left lateral flexion 25 [degrees] which represents apparent improvement.  Straight leg tests are negative bilaterally.  If his symptoms increase a repeat MRI scan would be helpful but at the current time he seems to be doing better as far as the back itself.  The level of impairment would be appropriate in this situation as noted above.  It is my opinion that the level of impairment and that of the function and restrictions relate to his work at Wal-Mart.  If you have any questions regarding this correspondence please advise.

(Ex. 2-10)



On March 4, 2004, claimant presented himself for a functional capacity evaluation.  (Ex. 1)  The test was valid.  According to the report, claimant is capable of work in the light and medium categories of work.  The authors of the functional capacity evaluation, detailed all of claimant’s restrictions in its attachment A.  (Ex. 1-5 through 1‑6)

On March 5, 2004, Ms. Barbara Laughlin, M.A., a vocational consultant, completed a vocational report for claimant.  (Ex. 3)  Ms. Laughlin opined claimant had a vocational loss in the amount of 55-65 percent.  (Ex. 3-16)  She opined claimant needed to be selective when he secures future employment.  (Ex. 3-16)

Defendants, in anticipation of litigation, retained the services of Irving L. Wolfe, D.O., a board certified physician in neurology.  Dr. Wolfe did not examine claimant.  The neurologist reviewed claimant’s medical records from Dr. Tweeton, The University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, a functional capacity evaluation as well as a vocational counseling report from Ms. Barbara Laughlin.  Dr. Wolfe discussed the cause of claimant’s condition.  The neurologist opined:

In my review of the medical record, it is not within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, there was a work injury that occurred on December 9, 2001, nor was there any material aggravation of Mr. Alvarez’s three year history of lower back pain or leg pain.

(Ex. A-3)

Dr. Wolfe agreed with Dr. Neiman’s impairment rating of 10 to 13 percent.  However, Dr. Wolfe denied the injury was work related.  (Ex. A-3)  Dr. Wolfe recommended the following restrictions:

I would recommend repetitive lifting of no more than 30 pounds on an occasional basis.  I recommended these weight limits in floor to waist lift, waist to shoulder lift, waist to overhead lift, long distance and short distance carrying, pushing and pulling, repetitive squatting to the floor.  It is my medical opinion that there needs to be no limitations regarding standing, sitting, repetitive unloading with forward bending, climbing, walking a half mild,[sic] gripping, pinching, upper extremity dexterity, ladder climbing, forward reaching and repetitive overhead reaching.
(Ex. A-3 through A-4)

Since his termination from the distribution center, claimant has worked for temporary agencies.  He has no fringe benefits available to him.  In 2002, he received his unemployment insurance benefits, then he worked for Temporary Associates of Muscatine at $8.00 per hour.  The job was less than permanent.  There he worked in a plastics factory and packed plastic bottles.

In October 2003, claimant commenced employment at Mount Pleasant Foods.  This employment is again through Temporary Associates of Muscatine.  Claimant is paid $9.30 per hour.  He packages ham and cheese slices and works 40 hours per week.  He testified his current position is much less physically demanding than his position as a “non-conveyable loader.”

At his hearing, claimant testified his current symptoms are primarily pain in his back with some pain in his leg.  For pain relief, claimant takes Ibuprofen or Advil.  He uses ice packs too.  Claimant testified his pain is better now that he is not lifting the many cartons at the distribution center.  

Claimant sustained a work-related injury that arose out of and in the course of his employment on December 9, 2001.  The injury was a specific trauma.  However, there is no question in the mind of this deputy, claimant’s work involved repetitive lifting.  The repetitive work often necessitated heavy lifting up to 100 pounds.
Claimant’s rendition of the events on December 9, 2001 is credible.  His injury was not witnessed.  However, claimant reported it immediately to his supervisor.  The supervisor determined he would classify the injury as non-reportable, even though claimant requested and needed medical attention.  The supervisor did not tell claimant he disbelieved him.  Rather, claimant was told it was a Sunday and there were no company doctors available to him that day.  The supervisor also tried to dissuade claimant from seeking medical attention because medical treatment would affect both individual and group bonuses.  The bonuses were due shortly after December 31, 2001, just several weeks into the future.  It is quite apparent both the supervisor and claimant wanted their bonuses for that quarter.
On the very next day, December 10, 2001, claimant telephoned Dr. Tweeton and requested a chiropractic appointment.  Claimant saw Dr. Tweeton, two days after the work injury.  Claimant reported the same sequence of events to Dr. Tweeton.  The treating chiropractor had no reason to doubt claimant.  The chiropractor commenced treatment consistent with the history claimant provided to him.

It is the determination of the undersigned; claimant sustained a work-related injury that arose out of and in the course of his employment on December 9, 2001.  The injury was a specific trauma.  However, claimant engaged in repetitive lifting when he was at the distribution center.

The next issue to determine is whether claimant’s work injury caused claimant’s spinal condition or in the alternative, whether the work injury materially aggravated a pre-existing condition of the spine.  The medical evidence in the record supports claimant’s claim.  His work at the distribution center materially aggravated his preexisting spinal condition.   Dr. Tweeton and Dr. Chen, treating doctors, support claimant’s position.  Dr. Neiman, an evaluating physician, finds a causal relationship between the work injury and claimant’s condition.  The only physician who does not support claimant’s claim is Dr. Wolfe.  However, Dr. Wolfe never physically examined claimant.  Dr. Wolfe only reviewed claimant’s medical records.  Dr. Wolfe’s opinion is not given the same weight as are the opinions of the treating and evaluating doctors.  Claimant has proven by a preponderance of the evidence, there is a causal relationship between his injury on December 9, 2001 and his spinal condition.

Claimant’s injury is to his spine.  It is an injury to the body as a whole.  The injury is permanent.  Claimant has been given permanent work restrictions.  He has an impairment rating of 10 to 13 percent.  Even Dr. Wolfe agrees the impairment rating is accurately portrayed.  There is ample evidence to support a permanent disability.

Since the injury is an injury to the body as a whole, it is to be calculated by the industrial method.  Since claimant has an impairment to the body as a whole, an industrial disability has been sustained.  Industrial disability was defined in Diederich v. Tri-City R. Co., 219 Iowa 587, 593 258 N.W. 899 (1935) as follows:  “It is therefore plain that the legislature intended the term ‘disability’ to mean ‘industrial disability’ or loss of earning capacity and not a mere ‘functional disability’ to be computed in the terms of percentages of the total physical and mental ability of a normal man.”

Functional impairment is an element to be considered in determining industrial disability which is the reduction of earning capacity, but consideration must also be given to the injured employee's age, education, qualifications, experience, motivation, loss of earnings, severity and situs of the injury, work restrictions, inability to engage in employment for which the employee is fitted and the employer's offer of work or failure to so offer.  Olson v. Goodyear Service Stores, 255 Iowa 1112, 125 N.W.2d 251 (1963); McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980); Barton v. Nevada Poultry Co., 253 Iowa 285, 110 N.W.2d 660 (1961).

Compensation for permanent partial disability shall begin at the termination of the healing period.  Compensation shall be paid in relation to 500 weeks as the disability bears to the body as a whole.  Section 85.34.



Formerly, claimant had been engaged in work classified in the heavy category of labor.  He worked as a farm worker in California; he worked in a packing plant too.  Work at the distribution center involved heavy lifting.  However, defendant-employer terminated claimant even though he was characterized as a good worker.
According to claimant’s valid functional capacity evaluation, he is relegated to work in the light or medium categories.  His permanent work restrictions are detailed in the addendum to the functional capacity report.  Ms. Laughlin, the vocational consultant, opined claimant had a vocational loss of 55 to 65 percent.   
Claimant’s language skills preclude him from accepting many positions where English is required.  He would benefit from a class such as English as a Second Language.  He is encouraged to improve his language arts.  Other vocational education seems out of the question given the fact claimant is 41 years old and non‑English speaking.

Claimant is working presently at a temporary employment agency.  He is able to perform the tasks assigned to him.  He earns $9.30 per hour.  He has no benefits.  At the distribution center, he earned $14.15 per hour and he had excellent fringe benefits.  His wages now are nearly $5.00 per hour less than what he earned in December 2001.

In light of the above factors, it is the determination of the undersigned; claimant has a permanent partial disability in the amount of 42 percent.  Claimant is entitled to 210 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits at the stipulated weekly benefit rate of $310.82 per week and commencing from January 1, 2003.  
Claimant is entitled to interest as allowed by law.  In arbitration proceedings, interest accrues on unpaid permanent disability benefits from the onset of permanent disability.  Farmer’s Elevator Co., Kingsley v. Manning, 286 N.W.2d 174 (Iowa 1979); Benson v. Good Samaritan Ctr., Ruling on Rehearing, October 18, 1989.


The next issue to present is the issue of healing period benefits.  Healing period compensation describes temporary workers compensation weekly benefits that precede an allowance of permanent partial disability benefits.  Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999).  Section 85.34(1) provides that healing period benefits are payable to an injured worker who has suffered permanent partial disability until the first to occur of three events.  These are:  (1) the worker has returned to work; (2) the worker medically is capable of returning to substantially similar employment; or (3) the worker has achieved maximum medical recovery.  Maximum medical recovery is achieved when healing is complete and the extent of permanent disability can be determined.  Armstrong Tire & Rubber Co. v. Kubli, Iowa App., 312 N.W.2d 60 (Iowa 1981).  Neither maintenance medical care nor an employee's continuing to have pain or other symptoms necessarily prolongs the healing period.



Claimant is requesting healing period benefits from December 9, 2001 through December 31, 2002.  This is a period of 55.143 weeks.  Dr. Chen opined claimant was not at maximum medical improvement until the end of 2002.  The opinion of Dr. Chen is accorded great weight in determining when claimant reached maximum medical improvement.  Dr. Chen was the treating physician.  Therefore, in light of the treating physician’s opinion relative to maximum medical improvement, this deputy concludes claimant is entitled to healing period benefits from December 10, 2001 through December 31, 2002.  Claimant is to be compensated at the stipulated rate of $310.82 per week for 55.143 weeks.

The next issue for determination is the payment of medical benefits pursuant to section 85.27 of the Iowa Code, as amended.  
Evidence in administrative proceedings is governed by section 17A.14.  The agency’s experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge may be utilized in the evaluation of evidence.  The rules of evidence followed in the courts are not controlling.  Findings are to be based upon the kind of evidence on which reasonably prudent persons customarily rely in the conduct of serious affairs.  Health care is a serious affair. 

Prudent persons customarily rely upon their physician’s recommendation for medical care without expressly asking the physician if that care is reasonable.  Proof of reasonableness and necessity of the treatment can be based on the injured person’s testimony.  Sister M. Benedict v. St. Mary’s Corp., 255 Iowa 847, 124 N.W.2d 548 (1963)  

It is said that “actions speak louder than words.”  When a licensed physician prescribes and actually provides a course of treatment, doing so manifests the physician’s opinion that the treatment being provided is reasonable.  A physician practices medicine under standards of professional competence and ethics.  Knowingly providing unreasonable care would likely violate those standards.  Actually providing care is a nonverbal manifestation that the physician considers the care actually provided to be reasonable.  A verbal expression of that professional opinion is not legally mandated in a workers' compensation proceeding to support a finding that the care provided was reasonable.  The success, or lack thereof, of the care provided is evidence that can be considered when deciding the issue of reasonableness of the care.  A treating physician’s conduct in actually providing care is a manifestation of the physician’s opinion that the care provided is reasonable and creates an inference that can support a finding of reasonableness.  Jones v. United Gypsum, File No. 1254118 (App. May 16, 2002); Kleinman v. BMS Contract Services, Ltd., File No. 1019099 (App. September 8, 1995); McClellon v. Iowa Southern Utilities, File No. 894090 (App. January 31, 1992).  This inference also applies to the reasonableness of the fees actually charged for that treatment.  



Defendants denied liability for the work injury.  They cannot argue the medical expenses incurred were unauthorized expenditures.  Defendants do not have that defense available to them.  Claimant supplied a detailed list of the medical expenses related to this work injury.  They are:  Tweeton Chiropractic, P.C. at $125.00 and the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics at $1,597.64.  Defendants are liable for these medical expenses in the total amount of $1,722.64.

Previously, claimant refused steroid injections and possible surgical intervention.  During his hearing, he indicated he would consider those options.  Since claimant has not had medical insurance and since he does not qualify for public assistance, he has not sought proper medical care.  Defendants shall provide reasonable and necessary medical care for claimant’s spinal condition at the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics in Iowa City.  

The next issue to determine is the issue dealing with an independent medical examination pursuant to section 85.39 of the Iowa Code, as amended.  Claimant is requesting the cost of the examination conducted by Dr. Neiman.  No itemized bill was included in the exhibits.  The undersigned has no knowledge of the actual costs.

Section 85.39 permits an employee to be reimbursed for subsequent examination by a physician of the employee's choice where an employer-retained physician has previously evaluated "permanent disability" and the employee believes that the initial evaluation is too low.  The section also permits reimbursement for reasonably necessary transportation expenses incurred and for any wage loss occasioned by the employee's attending the subsequent examination.

Defendants are responsible only for reasonable fees associated with claimant's independent medical examination.  Claimant has the burden of proving the reasonableness of the expenses incurred for the examination.  See Schintgen v. Economy Fire & Casualty Co., File No. 855298 (App. April 26, 1991).  Defendants' liability for claimant's injury must be established before defendants are obligated to reimburse claimant for independent medical examination.  McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980)



In the case at hand, claimant is not entitled to be reimbursed for the costs of Dr. Neiman’s independent medical examination.  The defendants denied this case.  There was no “employer-retained physician” who had previously evaluated claimant for permanent disability prior to the date of Dr. Neiman’s examination.  Dr. Chen and Dr. Neiman were both doctors selected by claimant.  Dr. Wolfe did not review claimant’s medical records until after Dr. Neiman had provided his evaluation.  Under section 85.39, claimant is not entitled to be reimbursed.


The final issue to address is the one involving penalty benefits under section 86.13 of the Iowa Code. 

In Christensen v. Snap-on Tools Corp., 554 N.W.2d 254 (Iowa 1996), and Robbennolt v. Snap-on Tools Corp., 555 N.W.2d 229 (Iowa 1996), the supreme court said:

Based on the plain language of section 86.13, we hold an employee is entitled to penalty benefits if there has been a delay in payment unless the employer proves a reasonable cause or excuse.  A reasonable cause or excuse exists if either (1) the delay was necessary for the insurer to investigate the claim or (2) the employer had a reasonable basis to contest the employee’s entitlement to benefits.  A “reasonable basis” for denial of the claim exists if the claim is “fairly debatable.”

Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260.

The supreme court has stated:


(1) If the employer has a reason for the delay and conveys that reason to the employee contemporaneously with the beginning of the delay, no penalty will be imposed if the reason is of such character that a reasonable fact finder could conclude that it is a "reasonable or probable cause or excuse" under Iowa Code section 86.13.  In that case, we will defer to the decision of the commissioner.  See Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260 (substantial evidence found to support commissioner’s finding of legitimate reason for delay pending receipt of medical report); Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 236.


(2) If no reason is given for the delay or if the “reason” is not one that a reasonable fact finder could accept, we will hold that no such cause or excuse exists and remand to the commissioner for the sole purpose of assessing penalties under section 86.13.  See Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 261.


(3) Reasonable causes or excuses include (a) a delay for the employer to investigate the claim, Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260; Kiesecker v. Webster City Custom Meats, Inc., 528 N.W.2d at 109, 111 (Iowa 1995); or (b) the employer had a reasonable basis to contest the claim(the “fairly debatable” basis for delay.  See Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260 (holding two-month delay to obtain employer’s own medical report reasonable under the circumstances). 


(4) For the purpose of applying section 86.13, the benefits that are underpaid as well as late-paid benefits are subject to penalties, unless the employer establishes reasonable and probable cause or excuse.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 237 (underpayment resulting from application of wrong wage base; in absence of excuse, commissioner required to apply penalty).

   If we were to construe [section 86.13] to permit the avoidance of penalty if any amount of compensation benefits are paid, the purpose of the penalty statute would be frustrated.  For these reasons, we conclude section 86.13 is applicable when payment of compensation is not timely . . . or when the full amount of compensation is not paid.

Id.

(5) For purposes of determining whether there has been a delay, payments are “made” when (a) the check addressed to a claimant is mailed (Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 236; Kiesecker, 528 N.W.2d at 112), or (b) the check is delivered personally to the claimant by the employer or its workers’ compensation insurer.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 235.  In the present case, the insurer sent the checks to the employer, not to the claimant.  The employer then delivered the checks to the claimant.  In this case, payment is not “made” for penalty purposes until the claimant actually receives the check.  See Id. at 235.


(6) In determining the amount of penalty, the commissioner is to consider factors such as the length of the delay, the number of delays, the information available to the employer regarding the employee’s injury and wages, and the employer’s past record of penalties.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d at 238.


(7) An employer’s bare assertion that a claim is “fairly debatable” does not make it so.  A fair reading of Christensen and Robbennolt, makes it clear that the employer must assert facts upon which the commissioner could reasonably find that the claim was “fairly debatable.”  See Christensen, 554 N.W.2d at 260.

Meyers v. Holiday Express Corp., 557 N.W.2d 502 (Iowa 1996).  

Weekly compensation payments are due at the end of the compensation week.  Robbennolt, 555 N.W.2d 229, 235.

Penalty is not imposed for delayed interest payments.  Davidson v. Bruce, 593 N.W.2d 833, 840 (Iowa App. 1999).

When an employee’s claim for benefits is fairly debatable based on a good faith dispute over the employee’s factual or legal entitlement to benefits, an award of penalty benefits is not appropriate under the statute.  Whether the issue was fairly debatable turns on whether there was a factual dispute that, if resolved in favor of the employer, would have supported the employer's denial of compensability Gilbert v. USF Holland, Inc., 637 N.W.2d 194 (Iowa 2001).


Claimant is entitled to penalty benefits in the case at hand.  Claimant’s claim was not fairly debatable.  He requested medical attention immediately following his injury on December 9, 2001.  He was told it was a Sunday and no company doctors were available.  Claimant was also told he would forfeit his quarterly bonus if he received medical care under workers’ compensation.  Claimant sought medical treatment on his own.  His chiropractor restricted claimant from working for an indefinite period of time.  The chiropractor listed back and left leg problems on the face of the work release slips.  Claimant brought the work release slips into his place of employment.  The defendants terminated claimant while he was restricted from working.  The termination was made effective back to the last day claimant worked for the distribution center.  It would not have been unreasonable for defendants to conduct a further investigation of the claim.  Defendants selected to ignore the injury and to deny unreasonably the claim.

As a result of a failure to conduct a meaningful investigation, the defendants unreasonably denied claimant the payment of any weekly benefits.  To date, claimant has been paid nothing in the way of temporary/healing period or permanent partial disability benefits.  It is the determination of the undersigned; claimant is entitled to penalty benefits in the amount of $10,000.00. 














ORDER

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED:

Defendants shall pay unto claimant two hundred ten (210) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits at the stipulated weekly benefit rate of three hundred ten and 82/100 dollars ($310.82) per week and commencing from the stipulated date of January 1, 2003.
Defendants shall pay unto claimant healing period benefits from December 10, 2001 through December 31, 2002, a period of fifty-five point one four three (55.143) weeks, at the stipulated weekly benefit rate of $310.82 per week.
Accrued benefits, plus interest, as allowed by law, shall be paid to claimant in a lump sum.

Pursuant to section 86.13 of the Iowa Code, defendants shall pay unto claimant, penalty benefits in the amount of ten thousand and 00/100 dollars ($10,000.00), plus interest, as allowed, by law, for the unreasonable denial of claimant’s claim.
Defendants shall pay medical benefits in the amount of one thousand seven hundred twenty-two and 64/100 dollars ($1,722.64) and as detailed in  exhibits 10 and 11.
Defendants are liable for reasonable and necessary medical care to treat claimant’s spinal condition and said treatment by providers at the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics shall be deemed to be the authorized treating physicians.



Costs, as allowed by law, are assessed to defendants.

Defendants shall file all reports as required by this division. 

Signed and filed this ____28th_____ day of July, 2004.

   ____________________________






         MICHELLE A. MCGOVERN
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